STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge


RECEIVED

Opinion No. 5502 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 26, 2017)

OCT 02 2017

2011-GS-07-121;
2014-GS-07-0359

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PRESTON RYAN OATES,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO: 2017-002012

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's denial of Petitioner's motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's refusal to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to disprove that Petitioner acted in self-defense?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the lower court's decision to charge the jury with the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence of the element of sudden heat of passion required for voluntary manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 17, 2011, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2011-GS-07-120, 121. (R. p. 1108). On July 28, 2011, Petitioner filed a petition for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code §16-11-410-450. [the Act]. (R. p. 1, Petition for Immunity). On November 17, 2011, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. held an immunity hearing. Jared S. Newman and Donald Colonegi represented Petitioner at the immunity hearing. Isaac McDuffie Stone, III, and Sean Thorton represented the State. On March 1, 2012, Judge Dennis signed an order denying the Petitioner's motion for immunity. (R. p. 235). The order was filed with the Beaufort County Clerk of Court on March 6, 2012. (R. p. 235). On March 12, 2012, Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider. (R. p. 241). On March 13, 2012, Judge Dennis heard Petitioner's motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 253-283). In a written order signed March 13, 2012, Judge Dennis denied the motion to reconsider. (R. p. 284). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and briefs filed by both the Petitioner and the State. While the appeal from the denial of immunity was pending, the South Carolina Supreme Court decided State v. Issac, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2013) holding that the denial of immunity pursuant to the Act, S.C. Code §16-11-410, is not immediately appealable.

On February 20, 2014, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder, indictment #2014-GS-07-00359. (R. p. 1112). On June 16, 2014, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. Jared S. Newman and Donald Colonegi represented Petitioner at trial. Sean Thorton and Mary Concannon prosecuted the case. On June 19, 2014, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a

weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The State nolle prossed indictment #2011-GS-07-120 for voluntary manslaughter on June 19, 2014. (R. p. 1116). That same day Judge Goldsmith sentenced Petitioner to twenty six (26) years for voluntary manslaughter and five (5) years concurrent for the weapon charge. On June 27, 2014, Petitioner filed post-trial motions. That same day, on June 27, 2014, Petitioner filed a timely notice of intent to appeal.

On July 7, 2014, Judge Goldsmith heard arguments in regard to the post-trial motions. Judge Goldsmith granted Petitioner's motion to reduce sentence. In a written order signed July 7, 2014, Judge Goldsmith reduced the sentence from twenty six (26) to twenty four (24) years. (R. p. 1107, Order reducing sentence). The direct appeal was perfected and after hearing argument the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentence. State v. Oates, No. 2014-001404, 2017 WL 3161126 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 26, 2017). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on September 1, 2017. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner owned PRO Tow, a tow truck company authorized by the Edgefield Subdivision Homeowners Association to tow vehicles that are improperly parked in the neighborhood. (R. p. 16, line 13 – p. 17, lines 1-20). The Edgefield Subdivision prohibits on street parking. (R. p. 17, line 21 – p. 18, lines 1-23). On the evening of December 24, 2010, Petitioner noticed a minivan improperly parked on the street in the neighborhood. Petitioner first placed a disabling boot on the minivan and then moved the tow truck in position to tow the minivan.

The minivan belonged to Carlos Olivera. Carlos Olivera and his family were visiting his brother Nelson Olivera who lived in the neighborhood. A neighbor, Steve Varedi, warned the Oliveras that the van was about to be towed. (R. p. 483, Court's Exhibit #4, Statement of Steve Varedi). A home surveillance camera from Varedi's home captured the incident on video and the video was introduced at trial as State's Exhibit #2. (R. p. 611, lines 16-17 – State's Exhibit #2, home surveillance CD transported to the Court). Carlos and Nelson Olivera approached Petitioner and they argued with Petitioner about towing the car. On the night of the incident Nelson Olivera told Investigator Angela Biens of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department that "his brother pulled a gun out of his pants and demanded that the subject, that would be Mr. Oates, release his car. Nelson stated that the subject ran to his truck, closed the door and appeared very nervous." (R. p. 27, lines 1-6). Nelson Olivera provided a written statement on December 28, 2010, and stated:

The guy was ignoring us when we were trying to bring him to a common sense and even other people driving by were saying its Christmas don't do that but the guy was walking away toward his truck cabin, then he said if you don't have the money go away and went inside his truck and show us my brother and I a semi auto pistol and said if you don't have the money go away.

Shortly after that, my brother Carlos who have a permit to carry a conceal weapon, flex his shirt and shows that guy that he also have a pistol, then Carlos said you think that you going to scare me?

(R. p. 493, Court's Exhibit #9, Statement of Nelson Olivera).

Petitioner stated that after he booted the minivan he saw three men come running out of a house. (R. p. 292, lines 1-12; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner stated he got in the cab of his truck, locked the door and rolled down the window. (R. p. 292, lines 12-15; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Two of the men stepped up on the running board of the tow truck and one of these two men told the third man to go get his shotgun. (R. p. 292, lines 16-23; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner told officers that, as he was stalling for time, he heard a round being chambered. (R. p. 293, line 1 – p. 294, lines 1-23; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner also told the officers that one of the men grabbed his keys and a tool to attempt to remove the boot. (R. p. 299, lines 1-17; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). The other man remained at the truck window and asked about paperwork in connection with the minivan. (R. p. 299, lines 18-23; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner assured the man that he had no paperwork on the minivan but at the same time discreetly got his gun out of his glove compartment. (R. p. 301, lines 1-11; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court).

Nelson Olivera stated that after his brother showed the pistol, Petitioner gave Nelson the keys and a tool to remove the boot. (R. p. 493, Court's Exhibit #9, Statement of Nelson Olivera). Nelson Olivera, however, was unable to remove the boot. Petitioner told officers:

And he [the man who remained at the truck window] looks at me and he goes, okay, you're gonna come get this shit off ... come get this shit off now. I said okay... No problem No problem. He unlocked the door of my truck and pulled the handle and opened it and as he opened it, he was stepping down off the running board ... so he was opening it with his left hand.

(R. p. 304, lines 1-7; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner then told officers that he saw the man reach for his pistol with his right hand. (R. p. 304, lines 9-15; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner played along as if he was going to exit the tow truck and unlock the boot. Petitioner told officers that he "evacked" out of his truck and said, "It's now or never. He's already in motion and he's in draw. Whether he's drawing it to intimidate me, to keep me to go do what he wants me to do, or if he knew I didn't have any paperwork on his vehicle and . . . ah, Bye, Bye, Preston . . . Regardless, he was in motion, he was in draw and I reacted. I know ...I remember the very first shot. I caught him on the left side. (R. p. 306, line 12 – p. 307, lines 1-7; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Carlos Olivera was fatally wounded by six gun shots. A Glock model 22, .40 caliber pistol with a fifteen round magazine with one in the chamber belonging to Carlos Olivera was found at the scene of the shooting. (R. p. 734, line 21 – p. 735, lines 1-13). Petitioner had a Glock model 27, .40 caliber pistol with an eight round magazine. (R. p. 736, lines 6-11).

After the shooting Petitioner remained at the scene and called 911. Petitioner told the 911 operator:

I put the boot on the vehicle and I was pulling my truck around. He jumped on the driver's side window, told me to unlock the vehicle, "Unlock it now, unlock it now!" So I opened the door and I stepped out of my truck. When I stepped out of my truck, he pulled a handgun on me, stuck it in my face and said "unhook my vehicle or I will kill you." I pulled mine out and shot him -- I don't know how many times. I just shot him.

(R. p. 80, line 23 – p. 81, lines 1-8; State's Exhibit #1, CD of 911 tape transported to the Court).

On appeal Petitioner argued that he was entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to both sections (A) and (C) of S.C. Code §16-11-410-450. Petitioner alternatively argued that he was entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal because the facts established self-defense as a matter of law. Finally, Petitioner argued that the lower court

erred in charging voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence of sudden heat of passion.

REASONS THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari to clarify when immunity from prosecution should be granted under both Sections (A) and (C) of S.C. Code §16-11-410-450. The petition should also be granted to clarify when self-defense is established as a matter of law entitling a defendant to a directed verdict of acquittal. Finally, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari to once again clarify that a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter is improper when there is no evidence of sudden heat of passion.

ARGUMENTS

1. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the lower court's denial of Petitioner's motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Petitioner was initially indicted for voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2011-GS-07-120, 121. (R. p. 1110). On July 28, 2011, Petitioner filed a petition for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code §16-11-410-450. [the Act]. (R. p. 1, Petition for Immunity). On November 17, 2011, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. held an immunity hearing. In a written order signed March 1, 2012, Judge Dennis denied Petitioner's motion for immunity from prosecution. The judge erred. Petitioner qualified for immunity pursuant to the Act.

S.C. Code §16-11-440 provides:

(A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, **or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle;** and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

(emphasis added).

In the order denying immunity the judge wrote:

It is clear to the Court from the evidence presented that the case at hand is not covered by the{sic]this portion of the Act. The facts presented do not show that at the time of the shooting Carlos was unlawfully or forcibly entering or had entered, Oates' vehicle. Carlos was walking away from Oates' tow truck at the time Oates got out of the vehicle and shot Carlos. Statements from witnesses as well as the video of the incident support these findings

(R. p. 235, Order Denying Immunity R. p. 239). The judge erred.

While there may not have been evidence that Carlos Olivera was unlawfully or forcibly entering Oates' vehicle, as found by Judge Dennis, there is evidence that Carlos Olivera was attempting to remove Oates from his occupied vehicle. On the night of the incident Nelson Olivera told Investigator Angela Biens of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department that "his brother pulled a gun out of his pants and demanded that the subject, that would be Mr. Oates, release his car. Nelson stated that the subject ran to his truck, closed the door and appeared very nervous." (R. p 27, lines 1-6; R. p. 500, Court's Exhibit #12, Supplemental Incident Report).

Investigator Biens testified that Nelson Olivera provided a written statement on the night of the incident indicating, "My brother pull his gun and toll (sic) him to release the car." (R. p. 34, lines 15-16). Nelson Olivera also stated in the written statement given the night of the incident, "The guy said \$400, then when the guy saw my brother with the gun in hand, the guy handed the keys and said, 'Do it. Unlock the padlock.'" (R. p. 34, lines 20-23). Additionally, Nelson Olivera stated, "After that, my brother calmed down and put the gun in his waist. My brother turned around and the guy shot my brother." (R, p. 34, line 25 – p. 35 lines 1-3).

Nelson Olivera provided an additional written statement on December 28, 2010 and stated:

The guy was ignoring us when we were trying to bring him to a common sense and even other people driving by were saying its Christmas don't do that but the guy was walking away toward his truck cabin, then he said if you don't have the money go away and went inside his truck and show us my brother and I a semi auto pistol and said if you don't have the money go away.

Shortly after that, my brother Carlos who have a permit to carry a conceal weapon, flex his shirt and shows that guy that he also have a pistol, then Carlos said you think that you going to scare me?

(R. p. 493, Court's Exhibit #9, Statement of Nelson Olivera).

According to Nelson Olivera, after his brother showed the pistol, Petitioner gave Nelson the keys and a tool to remove the boot. (R. p. 493, Court's Exhibit #9, Statement of Nelson Olivera).

When Nelson Olivera was unable to remove the boot, Petitioner told officers:

And he [Carlos] looks at me and he goes, okay, you're gonna come get this shit off ...come get this shit off now. I said okay... No problem No problem. He unlocked the door of my truck and pulled the handle and opened it and as he opened it, he was stepping down off the running board ... so he was opening it with his left hand.

(R. p. 304, lines 1-7; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD transported to the Court). Petitioner then told officers that he saw the man reach for his pistol with his right hand. (R. p. 304, lines 9-15; State's Exhibit #16, interview CD to be transported to the Court).

Nelson Olivera obtained the keys and tool from Petitioner after Carlos Olivera either brandished or pointed a pistol at Petitioner. When Nelson Olivera was unable to remove the boot with the keys and tool, the next step was for Carlos Olivera to force Petitioner out of his truck and force him to remove the boot. At the time Carlos Olivera was shot by Petitioner, Carlos was attempting to remove Petitioner against his will from his vehicle in order to remove the boot. Pursuant to the statute it does not matter that Carlos Olivera may have been walking away from Petitioner when he was shot because Carlos Olivera was still in the process of attempting to remove Petitioner from his tow truck and force him to remove the boot when Petitioner shot him. Petitioner is entitled to the presumption of having a reasonable fear of imminent peril or death or great bodily injury to himself when he used deadly force and shot Olivera provided by S.C. Code §16-11-440(A).

In addressing Section (A) of the Act in the order denying immunity from prosecution, the judge failed to address the fact that the Act provides that a person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril or death or great bodily injury when using deadly force against another person if the person against whom the deadly force is used **removes or is attempting to remove**

another person against his will from an occupied vehicle. Instead, the judge relied solely on the portion of the statute providing the presumption of reasonable fear if the person against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering or has unlawfully and forcibly entered an occupied vehicle. The fact that Carlos Olivera, armed with a gun in his waistband, was walking back to his minivan to check and see if his brother had been unable to remove the boot, does not indicate that Carlos Olivera had not attempted or succeeded in forcing Petitioner from the cab of his tow truck in order to force him to remove the boot.

During the motion to reconsider the denial of immunity the judge stated, “Now, arguably he gave him the key voluntarily without threat of being – without any threat of being armed or anything else.” (March 13, 2012 pretrial hearing R. p. 267, lines 21-23). The judge’s statement is unsupported by the record and ignores the statements of the deceased’s brother, Nelson Olivera, who confirmed that the deceased pulled a gun during the argument with Petitioner. The only witness to testify that Petitioner “gave the keys and tool to the Olivera brothers was Claudia Olivera, Nelson Olivera’s wife. In her written statement she said, “I looked and my husband was coming with the key, and I said, he gave you the keys? My husband said, yes, he is going to give us back the car; and I said, thank God.” (R. p. 497, Court’s Exhibit #10 from Pre-trial Hearing). Petitioner surrendered the keys only after Carlos Olivera flexed his shirt, displayed his weapon and asked, “Think that you going to scare me?” (R. p. 493, Court’s Exhibit #9 from pre-trial hearing, R. p. 494). The judge erred in failing to address in his written order the portion of the statute that provides that a person is presumed to have reasonable fear when using deadly force to another person if the person against whom the deadly force is used removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from an occupied vehicle. Petitioner was entitled to the presumption of S.C. Code §16-11-440(A). The record does not support a finding that Petitioner voluntarily gave

the key and tool to the Olivera brothers. The judge erred in refusing to address the portion of the statute dealing with a person who is removing or attempting to remove another person against his will from an occupied vehicle.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals found that the lower court adequately addressed the issue writing:

However, the circuit court adequately addressed the language highlighted by Petitioner. In its order denying Petitioner's motion for immunity, the circuit court addressed the last phrase in subsection (A) in the "Facts" section of the order. In the order's recitation of the facts, the circuit court stated, "[Petitioner] alleges that [Victim] was forcing him from the car at gunpoint. However, there are at least three other witnesses to the incident who state that the argument between the two men had subsided and that everyone present was calm at the time [Petitioner] shot [Victim]."⁶

Admittedly, the circuit court did not address the last phrase in subsection (A) in its legal analysis. Nonetheless, because the circuit court addressed Victim's alleged attempt to force Petitioner from his truck in the fact section of the order and implicitly found this version of the incident incredible, the failure to address this precise question in the order's legal analysis does not constitute reversible error.

State v. Oates, No. 2014-001404, 2017 WL 3161126, at *5 (S.C. Ct. App. July 26, 2017)

In footnote #6 the Court of Appeals wrote:

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