STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-002012

RECEIVED

NOV 01 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

PRESTON RYAN OATES,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Oates's case did not warrant a grant of immunity and, instead, created a "quintessential jury question" as to whether Oates acted in self-defense or unlawfully killed Victim. Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. Accordingly, the circuit court judge committed no error in denying Oates's request for immunity, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed that ruling. See Duncan, 392 S.C. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665 ("[W]hen a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence."); see generally State v. Lee, 274 S.C. 372, 375, 264 S.E.2d 418, 419 (1980) ("We cannot say that [the trial judge's] finding that the defendant was capable of standing trial was without evidentiary support or against the preponderance of the evidence and, accordingly, we find no error on the part of the judge in ordering the defendant to trial."). Oates's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

II.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's denial of Oates's directed verdict motion because substantial evidence was presented during trial, including the evidence and testimony establishing Oates shot the victim multiple times in the back as the victim walked away from him, tending to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Oates contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge's denial of his directed verdict motion on the issue of self-defense. In support of that contention, Oates maintains he was entitled to a directed verdict because the State allegedly failed to disprove he was acting in self-defense. Contrary to Oates's contentions, the evidence and testimony presented during trial when viewed in a light most favorable to the State as required established Oates unlawfully killed Victim by shooting him in the back as he was walking away from Oates while posing no threat or danger. Under those circumstances, the evidence and testimony presented during trial tended to disprove self-defense. Accordingly, the defense of self-defense was not established as a matter of law, the trial judge properly denied Oates's directed verdict

motion, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling. Oates's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

RELEVANT FACTS

During trial, several different accounts of the shooting were offered into evidence and presented to the jury. (R. pp. 584-586; pp. 595-598; p. 612; pp. 619-626; p. 698; p. 713; p. 751). Likewise, the surveillance recording of the shooting was played for the jury, and Dr. Riemer testified about Victim's injuries, which included five gunshot wounds to the back and one gunshot wound to the side of the abdomen. (R. pp. 869-879).

Regarding the accounts of the shooting presented to the jury, the jury heard several differing versions of the shooting through the introduction of the multiple statements made by Oates in the minutes, hours, and days after Victim was shot and killed that suggested Oates shot Victim upon being ordered out of his vehicle at gunpoint after Victim either pointed a gun in his face or was in the process of drawing a gun on him. (State's Ex. #1; State's Ex. # 15; State's Ex. # 16; State's Ex. # 22). Conversely, through the testimony of the witnesses who testified during trial, the jury heard sharply divergent accounts of the shooting that suggested Victim was shot in the back as he walked away from Oates. (R. pp. 595-598; pp. 619-626). Specifically, Varedi testified Oates shot Victim in the back, and he noted he never heard any yelling or shouting prior to the shooting. (R. pp. 595-598). Likewise, Nelson testified he personally pleaded with Oates to release Victim's vehicle, Victim produced a pistol for just a few seconds and stated no one was going to take his car, he told Victim to put his pistol away, and Victim complied without ever pointing or aiming the gun at Oates. (R. pp. 621-624; pp. 635-637; p. 641). Moments later, Nelson stated Oates shot Victim while Victim directed traffic in the road, and Nelson further indicated the shooting was not preceded by Victim threatening, arguing with, or fighting with

Oates. (R. pp. 624-626; p. 629; p. 639; p. 645). Additionally, Claudia testified Oates exited his truck “very, very quickly” and shot Victim from behind while Victim was engaged in directing traffic. (R. pp. 648-650; p. 652). Similarly, Dhayan Olivera (“Dhayan”), Victim’s wife, testified Victim was directing traffic during the incident when Oates came out of the truck with a gun, Victim tried to run, and Oates shot him from behind and continued firing after he fell to the ground. (R. pp. 658-659). Finally, Reyes testified she saw Oates walking towards Victim and firing shots at him from behind as Victim walked towards her. (R. pp. 667-668).

At the conclusion of the State’s case, Oates moved for a directed verdict, arguing the State failed to disprove “each and every element” of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. pp. 891-896). In response, the solicitor initially noted the State was only required to disprove a single element of self-defense before asserting the testimony and evidence established Oates shot Victim multiple times in the back as he was walking away from Oates and after he fell to the ground. (R. pp. 896-897). Based on that testimony and evidence, the solicitor contended the issue of self-defense was in dispute, and defense counsel responded: “I agree with you.” (R. p. 898). The trial judge then denied the directed verdict motion after finding the evidence and testimony created an issue necessitating jury resolution. (R. p. 899).

ANALYSIS

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge should deny such a motion and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to establish guilt or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to

grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling if there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the accused’s guilt. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004); see Crawford v. United States, 375 F.2d 332, 334 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“It is not the function of appellate judges to weigh the evidence and decide that if they had doubts other reasonable persons were compelled to have the same doubts. If that were the test the jury of twelve would be relegated to the very low grade function of secondary fact finders.”).

When a defendant raises a claim of self-defense, the State is required to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011); see State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492-493 (1998) (“[C]urrent law requires the State to disprove self-defense, once raised by the defendant, beyond a reasonable doubt.”). The State’s burden of disproving self-defense is satisfied when the State disproves any one of the elements of self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010). In making a determination as to whether the State met its burden of disproving self-defense, an appellate court should apply the traditional standard of review applied when reviewing the denial of any other directed verdict motion and affirm if there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the State reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt could be fairly or logically deduced. See State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (applying

the traditional directed verdict standard of review when considering whether Butler was entitled to the grant of a directed verdict based on a claim of self-defense).

Four elements must be present to establish the defense of self-defense in South Carolina. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 344, 520 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1999). Those required elements are: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must either have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or have actually been in imminent danger; (3) if the defense is based on the belief of imminent danger, the belief must have been the same as one that would have been entertained by a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage in the same situation; if the defendant was in actual imminent danger, the circumstances must have been such that would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to prevent serious bodily injury or loss of life; and (4) there was no other probable means of avoiding the danger than to act as the defendant did in the situation. State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994). “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” Bixby, 388 S.C. at 554, 698 S.E.2d at 586.

In the case at bar, when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State as required, the evidence and testimony presented during trial, if accepted by the jury, established Oates was not acting in self-defense when he unlawfully shot and killed Victim. Specifically, pursuant to one version of events established by the testimony and evidence, Oates fired upon Victim as Victim walked away from him towards his own vehicle with his gun in his waistband after any dispute between the two had ended and continued to shoot at Victim after he fell to the ground. At the time he was shot, Victim was not facing Oates, was not threatening Oates, was

not holding a weapon, was not ordering Oates out of his tow truck, and was not posing any immediate threat to Oates's life or safety. See State v. Rush, 340 N.C. 174, 186, 456 S.E.2d 819, 826 (N.C. 1995) (“[T]he fact that the victim had been shot in the back of the head, and thus could not have been facing defendant when he was shot, strongly negates any theory of self-defense.”). Instead, Victim had communicated his withdrawal from any conflict he had been engaged in with Oates by taking the actions of securing his weapon in his waistband, turning his back to Oates, and walking away, and Victim was simply directing traffic with his back turned to Oates when he was shot and killed. See Bryant, 336 S.C. at 345, 520 S.E.2d at 322 (instructing a person may withdraw from an “initial difficulty with [another person] if that withdrawal is communicated to the [other person] by word or act”).

In shooting Victim under those circumstances, Oates was not responding to any threat posed by Victim, was not in actual imminent danger, and could not have reasonably believed his life was in actual immediate danger. Therefore, as a defendant must not have brought on the difficulty and must either have actually reasonably believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or have actually been in imminent danger in order for a jury to find he was acting in self-defense, the evidence and testimony presented during trial did not support a conclusion Oates was acting in self-defense when he shot Victim numerous times from behind, and the trial judge properly denied Oates's directed verdict motion. Cf. State v. Patterson, 63 So. 3d 140, 149 (La. Ct. App. 2011) (“At trial, defendant testified that, after the victim arm-robbed him of his money and drugs, the victim walked toward his vehicle. Defendant admitted that, after the victim walked away, he retrieved his gun, ran toward the victim's car, opened the passenger-side door, and shot the victim. . . . ‘The law does not permit an individual to track down his enemy, shoot him with a pistol, and then claim justification for

the homicide because of prior threats.’ Furthermore, the State presented evidence that victim was shot in the back of his head, which indicates that the defendant became the aggressor and his claim of self-defense was not supported by the facts.” (footnote and citations omitted)).

Moreover, to the extent Oates’s own statements could have supported a conclusion he was acting in self-defense, the internal inconsistencies in Oates’s statements raised credibility issues that could only appropriately be resolved by the jury and, thus, further justified the denial of Oates’s directed verdict motion. See State v. Jenkins, 222 S.C. 359, 360-361, 72 S.E.2d 829, 829 (1952) (“It is not the function of [the appellate] court to pass upon the weight of the evidence, but only to determine its sufficiency to support the verdict[.]”); see also Town of Hartsville v. Munger, 93 S.C. 527, 529, 77 S.E. 219, 219 (1913) (“False and conflicting statements . . . have always been regarded as some evidence of guilty knowledge and intent.”); cf. Butler, 407 S.C. at 382, 755 S.E.2d at 460 (“[T]he evidence in the present case created a jury issue on the issue of self-defense. For example, as the trial court recognized when ruling on the directed verdict motion, [Butler]’s various, inconsistent accounts of how the stabbing occurred created credibility issues and questions of fact to be resolved by the jury.”).

Thus, based on the evidence and testimony presented during trial, the jury could have rationally and logically concluded the evidence disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. In light of that fact, Oates was not entitled to a directed verdict, and the case was properly submitted for the jury to decide. See State v. Hall, 259 S.C. 529, 532, 193 S.E.2d 269, 270 (1972) (“[I]f the testimony presented a factual issue as to whether appellant killed her husband in self-defense, the motions for a directed verdict were properly denied.”); cf. Dickey, 394 S.C. at 503, 716 S.E.2d at 103 (finding a directed verdict on self-defense was warranted only where the evidence of self-defense was “uncontroverted”); State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 63, 480 S.E.2d 62,

63-64 (1997) (“While self-defense can be inferred even from the State’s version of the evidence, the evidence of self-defense is not conclusive. . . . Accordingly, the trial judge properly refused to direct a verdict in appellant’s favor based on self-defense.”). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Oates’s directed verdict motion, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling. See State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“[Richburg] contends . . . that the trial judge should have directed a verdict, as a matter of law, of not guilty in favor of the defendant on the plea of self-defense. When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury. . . . Among other considerations is the credibility of the witnesses, including that of the appellant himself. When there is reason to discredit a witness because of interest or otherwise the judge is not required to take the case from the jury as a matter of law but may **and should** submit the issues, including credibility of the witnesses, to the jury.” (emphasis added)). Oates’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

III.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s decision to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter because the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Oates’s guilt for each and every element of voluntary manslaughter, including that Oates fatally shot the victim while acting in a sudden heat of passion that resulted from sufficient legal provocation.

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